IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

8-29-55

APR 12 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Ey _____ Chief Deputy Clark

SID J MHITE

I L E D

CASE NO. 84,854

Petitioner,

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

-vs-

ROBERT L. JOHNSON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0239437 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921 Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax No. (305) 377-5655

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, the **STATE OF FLORIDA**, was the Appellant below. The Respondent, **ROBERT L. JOHNSON**, was the Appellee below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal, the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of proceedings, and the symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts are succinctly stated by the Third District as follows:

In March 1993, a permanent injunction against domestic violence was served upon Johnson. The injunction prohibited him from engaging in any criminal offense resulting in physical injury to Andrea Green, entering onto her place of residence or place of employment, or abusing, threatening, or harassing her. Johnson violated the terms of the injunction by entering Green's place of residence, and pled no contest to the charge of criminal contempt that arose from that violation.

At the same time, and based upon the same conduct - Johnson's entry onto Green's residence the State filed an information charging Johnson with aggravated stalking by violating a prior injunction. Johnson moved to dismiss the information on the ground of double jeopardy; the trial court granted the motion.

(A. 2).

The Third District affirmed the order dismissing on double jeopardy grounds, the charge of aggravated stalking. (A. 1). This affirmance was based on the reasoning that aggravated stalking in violation of an injunction is a species of a lesser included offense of the contempt charge. This finding was based on the premise that there was no conceivable way in which Respondent could have committed aggravated stalking against the victim without also violating the terms of the injunction, a crime for which Respondent had previously been convicted. (A. 2). The Court reached this conclusion by looking at the

-2-

contents of the injunction and not the contents of the actual charging documents. (A. 3).

Petitioner then timely filed its Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Conflict Jurisdiction of this Court. Petitioner's Motion to Stay Mandate was granted by the Third District. This Court then accepted jurisdiction of the cause.

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED STALKING IN VIOLATION OF AN INJUNCTION ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS WHERE THE RESPONDENT PLED GUILTY TO CONTEMPT FOR VIOLATING THE INJUNCTION ON CHARGES CONTAINING DIFFERENT ELEMENTS FROM THE AGGRAVATED STALKING CHARGE.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The instant charge of aggravated stalking in violation of a injunction is not barred as a successive prosecution under the Double Jeopardy Clause where the Respondent has been found in contempt of court for violating the injunction for merely contacting the victim. This is so because each offense contains different elements. Although both offenses requires knowledge of the injunction, the contempt only required proof of simple contact. Aggravated stalking, however, requires proof or a specific intent to cause the victim substantial emotional distress. Since the elements are different, both actions can be maintained.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE MOTION TO DISMISS THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED STALKING IN VIOLATION OF AN INJUNCTION ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS WHERE THE RESPONDENT PLED GUILTY CONTEMPT TO VIOLATING FOR THE INJUNCTION ON CHARGES CONTAINING DIFFERENT ELEMENTS FROM THE AGGRAVATED STALKING CHARGE.

In United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. __, 113 S. Ct. 2849, 125 L. Ed. 2d 556 (1993), the United State's Supreme Court held that the Double Jeopardy Clause's protection attaches in nonsummary criminal contempt prosecutions just as it does in other criminal prosecutions. In the contexts of both multiple punishments and successive prosecutions, the double jeopardy bar applies if two offenses for which the defendant is punished or tried cannot survive the same elements best of <u>Blockburger v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S. Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932). The same elements test inquires whether each offense contains an element not contained in the other. If they do not then they are the same offense and double jeopardy bars additional punishment or successive prosecution.

The Supreme Court then applied this holding to both Dixon and Foster, the Respondents who were consolidated for the Petition. Dixon was arrested and released on bond. A condition of his bond made any violation of the criminal code a violation of his condition of release. While on bond, Dixon was indicted for possession of cocaine with intent to distribute. Dixon was also found in contempt for violating a condition of his release

-6-

because of his arrest and indictment for the cocaine charge. Α indictment was then filed on the cocaine charge. The dismissal of the cocaine charge on double jeopardy grounds was upheld by the United States Supreme Court on the grounds that the substantive criminal offense of possession of cocaine with intent to distribute was a lesser included offense of contempt based on the violation of a condition of his release, violating This was so because the order on release on a criminal law. bond incorporated the entire criminal code into the conditions for release. Therefore, double jeopardy would have barred Dixon's conviction for any substantive offense since the contempt incorporated all substantive offenses and Dixon was found in contempt for possession of cocaine with the intent to distribute. The Court held, that under these facts, the substantive charge was a lesser included offense of the contempt conviction and was barred under the multiple prosecution section of the Double Jeopardy Clause.

Foster's factual scenario is similar to the instant case. Foster's wife obtained a civil protection order against Foster. The order, which Foster consented to, required that he not molest, assault, or in any manner threaten or physically abuse his wife. Subsequently, Foster's wife prosecuted Foster for three separate instances of threats and two assaults. The court found Foster guilty on three counts of criminal contempt, which included two assaults and one threat. The United States then

-7-

obtained an indictment against Foster charging him with simple assault, three counts of threatening to injure another, and assault with intent to kill. His wife was the complainant in all counts; the first and last counts were based on the events for which Foster had been held in contempt, and the other three were based on the alleged events for which Foster was acquitted of contempt.

The United States Supreme Court held that the Dixon analysis, as applied to Foster, barred the subsequent prosecution of the assault charge. However, the Court found that the assault with intent to kill and the three counts of threats to injure were not barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause. The assault with intent to kill contained different elements than the contempt for simple assault. The contempt required proof of knowledge of the injunction order and willful violation of one of its conditions, simple assault. Assault with intent to kill requires proof of specific intent to kill while simple assault does not. Similarly, the Court found that the contempt offense required proof of knowledge of the protection order, which assault with intent to kill does not. Therefore, these crimes were different offenses and the subsequent prosecution did not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause. The same analysis was used for the three counts of threat to injure and they were also found not to be barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause.

-8-

The State submits that the instant case is controlled by Foster scenario rather than the Dixon scenario. The the Respondent herein was charged with violating the injunction by entering the victim's residence. To be held in contempt for this act the State had to prove knowledge of the injunction and into the residence. the mere trespass A conviction for aggravated stalking requires knowledge of the injunction and proof that the Defendant willfully, maliciously and repeatedly followed or harassed the victim. This requires proof of a specific intent to act with a bad purpose or evil intent to cause substantial emotional distress to the victim. As such, aggravated stalking in violation of a injunction requires proof of a specific intent to cause the harm while the contempt required only proof of contact without a specific intent to do Therefore, prosecution for aggravated stalking is not any harm. barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause.

The Florida Legislature, has resolved this issue in Section 775.021(4)(a), Florida Statutes (1993) in favor of a strict Blockburger analysis:

(4)(a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial. (Emphasis added).

-9-

An application of the foregoing rule of construction establishes that the aggravated stalking charge is not a lesser included offense of the contempt charge. Therefore, the granting of the dismissal on double jeopardy grounds was error.

The criminal contempt charge arising out of the simple entering of the victim's residence required only proof of a knowing and willful violation of the court ordered injunction. Richardson v. Lewis, 639 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). The aggravated stalking charge not only requires proof of a knowing and willful violation of the court ordered injunction but also requires proof that the acts in violation of the court order be willful, malicious and repeated with the intent to cause substantial emotional distress to a reasonable person in the victim's position and which serves no legitimate purpose. Pallas v. State, 636 So. 2d 1358 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). Therefore, under Section 775.021(4)(a), the aggravated stalking charge was not subsumed under the language of the injunction and therefore was not a species of a lesser included offense of the contempt charge.

In <u>State v. Miranda</u>, 644 So. 2d 342 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994) the Court when faced with the exact same situation, found no double jeopardy problem since the Second District looked at what was charged to determine the elements of the offense. In <u>Miranda</u>, the Second District held that a defendant can be

-10-

Miranda, the Second District held that a defendant can be both criminal contempt for violating an for prosecuted in violation of the aggravated stalking injunction and injunction since the two prosecutions survives the same elements test of <u>Blockburger v. United States</u>, 284 U.S. 299, 52 S. Ct. In Miranda, a domestic violence 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 (1932). injunction was entered against defendant which enjoined him physically abusing, threatening, or harassing the victim, either directly or indirectly, at any time or place and enjoined him from entering on or about the victim's place of employment. The defendant pled guilty to criminal contempt for violating above The State also filed provisions of the injunction. an information against defendant charging him with aggravated stalking in violation of the same domestic violence injunction and the same conduct that the criminal contempt conviction was The trial court granted the motion to dismiss based based on. on double jeopardy, but the Second District reversed.

In reversing the granting of the motion to dismiss, the Court relied on the <u>Blockburger</u> test, examining the elements of both the criminal contempt charge and the aggravated stalking charge to see if each requires proof of an element that the other does not. It found that both the aggravated stalking charge and the contempt charge required proof that an injunction for protection had been issued. However, the Court did not compare the entire injunction to the aggravated stalking charge, but only

-11-

compared the elements of the violated conditions of the injunction to the remaining elements of aggravated stalking. The Court found that aggravated stalking requires proof that a person "knowingly, willfully, maliciously and repeatedly follows or harasses another person"; that "harasses" means "to engage in a course of conduct directed at a specific person that causes substantial emotional distress in such person and serves no legitimate purpose"; that "course of conduct" includes the requirement that there be a "series of acts over a period of time". The Court found that no such requirements were contained in the elements of the violated conditions of the injunction. (Emphasis added). The condition that the defendant not "harass the Petitioner either directly or indirectly, at any time or place whatsoever", may be violated by a single act of harassment as defined by its plain meaning since no statutory definition was provided. The Court then held:

> . . . Thus, the aggravated stalking charge includes elements not included in the contempt charge. The fact that evidence of repeated phone calls may constitute the proof to be adduced at both the contempt trial and the aggravated stalking trial does not render these charges the same offense. The focus in doing a <u>Blockburger</u> analysis is on the statutory elements of the offenses and not on the accusatory pleadings or proof to be adduced at trial in a particular case.

Id. at 2345. The Court then found that the contempt charge also required proof of violation of the element of the condition that defendant "not enter or about Petitioner's place of employment" and that this was not necessary to prove the aggravated stalking

-12-

charge. Therefore, the contempt charge also included an element not included in the aggravated stalking charge.

The Fifth District's decision in <u>McCray v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) also supports the State's position. In <u>McCray</u>, the defendant claimed that it was error to deny his motion to dismiss charges based on double jeopardy grounds. He claimed that he was prosecuted for the same offense twice; first in a contempt proceeding, and second, for the underlying offense for which he had been previously held in contempt. The Fifth District had to remand the case because it did not have a sufficient record to determine the issue:

> . . . We do not have before us the order below which found McCray guilty of criminal contempt, or findings as to which acts he committed violated the court's earlier protection order. Thus it is impossible for us to make a proper <u>Blockburger</u> comparison of the criminal contempt offense with the May 22 offenses . . . (Footnote omitted).

Id. at 1218.

Richardson v. Lewis, In supra, an injunction for protection prohibiting the defendant from, among other things, committing battery on or entering the residential premises of former girlfriend was entered. He was charged with criminal contempt for violating the injunction by entering the home and attacking the former girlfriend. As a result of this conduct, was charged with armed burglary and aggravated defendant battery. After being convicted of criminal trespass and

-13-

aggravate battery he moved to dismiss the contempt charge a double jeopardy grounds, which was denied by the trial court. The Second District affirmed because it found conduct charged in the criminal contempt contained different elements than the substantive offenses.

This same result was reached the Colorado Supreme Court in <u>People v. Allen</u>, 868 P 2d 379 (Colo. 1994). In <u>Allen</u>, his wife obtained a permanent restraining order against him prohibiting Allen from contracting his wife. Allen violated this restraining order by breaking into his wife's residence and threatening to kill her. The trial court found that Allen had knowledge of the restraining order and violated it by merely contacting her.

Allen was then found in contempt of court. Thereafter, based on the same break in, Allen was charged with burglary, criminal mischief, menacing and criminal trespass. The Colorado Supreme Court found that the Double Jeopardy Clause does not bar the successive prosecution because the elements to prove contempt, knowledge of the court's order and a deliberate violation of the order, were not contained in the criminal charges of burglary, mischief, menacing or trespass. Since the elements were different the crimes were not the same and they were not barred by double jeopardy.

-14-

In the instant case the Third District affirmed the order dismissing on double jeopardy grounds, the charge of aggravated This affirmance was based on the reasoning that stalking. aggravated stalking in violation of an injunction is a species of a lesser included offense of the contempt charge. This finding was based on the premise that there was no conceivable way in which Defendant could have committed aggravated stalking against the victim without also violating the terms of the injunction, a crime for which Defendant had previously been convicted. The Court reached this conclusion by looking at the contents of the injunction and not the contents of the actual charging documents. Clearly, this holding is erroneous and should be quashed.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner submits that the instant decision expressly and directly conflicts with those cited herein and respectfully requests this Court quash the Third District's decision .