OA 8-29-95

217

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. WHITE

OID J. WHITE

JUL 20 1995

CASE NO. 84,854

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chilef Deputy Clerk

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT L. JOHNSON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

**BENNETT H. BRUMMER** 

PUBLIC DEFENDER
Eleventh Judicial Circuit
Of Florida
1320 N.W. 14th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
Telephone: (305) 545-1960

MANUEL ALVAREZ Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0606197

Counsel for Respondent

#

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

The defendant in Grady, Thomas Corbin, had crashed his car into another while

he was drunk. *Grady*, 432 U.S. at 162, 110 S.Ct. 2087-2088. The driver of the other car later died of injuries sustained in the accident. *Id.* Corbin appeared in local court and pleaded guilty to two traffic offenses for which he had been ticketed, failure to keep to the right of the median and driving while intoxicated. *Id.* He was sentenced to a fine and a license suspension. *Id.* at 513, 110 S.Ct. at 2088. At no point in this process did the prosecutor or the court realize that the other driver had been killed. Two months later, the district attorney's office obtained a grand jury indictment charging Corbin with reckless manslaughter, vehicular manslaughter, criminally negligent homicide, reckless assault, and driving while intoxicated. *Id.* at 513-514, 100 S.Ct. at 2089. In its bill of particulars, the prosecution stated that it would establish as reckless acts operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated and failing to keep to the right of the median — the two offenses of which Corbin had been convicted — as well as driving at a speed too fast for the weather and road conditions. *Id.* at 514-515, 110 S.Ct. at 2089.

The Court held that the state's intended reliance on the prior offenses to establish an essential element of the charged offense — here, the reckless or negligent acts — made the two offenses the same offense. The prosecution's theory, not the actual evidence it intended to offer, led to this result. *Id.* at 522-523, 110 S.Ct. 2094. The Court made it clear that prosecution of the charged offenses could have proceeded if the State had a theory of reckless or negligent conduct that did not require it to prove the elements of the already prosecuted offenses. The Court noted that "if the State relied solely on Corbin's driving too fast in heavy rain to establish recklessness or negligence" the prosecution would not be barred. *Id.* at 523, 110 S.Ct. at 2094. The state could not avoid the double jeopardy bar by simply proving the same theory through different evidence. If the state had evidence not offered in the first proceeding that would establish a reckless or negligent act by proving the commission of the already prosecuted offense, the second prosecution would still be barred. For example, the second prosecution would be barred even if the prosecution had eyewitness testimony, not used in the first proceeding, that Corbin drove on the wrong side of the

road.

The majority in *Grady* based its analysis on *Illinois v. Vitale*, 447 U.S. 410, 100 S.Ct. 2260, 65 L.Ed.2d 228 (1980). In *Vitale*, the defendant caused a fatal automobile accident and was issued a traffic citation at the scene. The citation charged him with failure to reduce speed to avoid an accident in violation of state law. He was convicted and sentenced to pay a fifteen dollar fine. The next day, the State charged him with two counts of involuntary manslaughter arising from the defendant's reckless driving. The defendant moved to dismiss the manslaughter charge on double jeopardy grounds. The *Vitale* Court stated:

[I]t may be that to sustain its manslaughter case the State may find it necessary to prove a failure to slow or to rely on conduct necessarily involving such failure; it may concede as much prior to trial. In that case, because [the defendant] has already been convicted for conduct that is a necessary element of the more serious crime for which he has been charged, his claim of double jeopardy would be substantial under *Brown* and our later decision in *Harris v. Oklahoma*...

Vitale, 447 U.S., at 420, 100 S.Ct., at 2267 (citations omitted).

*Grady* held that this application of the Double Jeopardy Clause was correct and controlled the case.<sup>5</sup> *Grady*, 495 U.S. at 515-516, 110 S.Ct. at 2090.

Justice Brennan explained that the *Blockburger* test was a rule of statutory construction designed for the primary purpose of ensuring that defendants were not given a higher sentence than that which was intended by the legislature. *Id.* at 517, 100 S.Ct. 2091. The *Blockburger* test, however, did not address the more central

[T]he Double Jeopardy Clause bars a subsequent prosecution if, to establish an essential element of an offense charged in that prosecution, the government will prove conduct that constitutes an offense for which the defendant has already been prosecuted.

Grady, 495 U.S. 510, 110 S.Ct. 2087 (J. Brennan).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Grady specifically held that:

protections of the Double Jeopardy Clause, viz. to protect citizens from the unfair burden of consecutive prosecutions for the same crime. *Id.* 

The *Blockburger* test is simply a "rule of statutory construction," a guide to determining whether the legislature intended multiple punishments. [*Missouri v. Hunter*, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S.Ct. 673, 678, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983)]

Successive prosecutions, however, whether following acquittals or convictions, raise concerns that extend beyond merely the possibility of an enhanced sentence:

"The underlying idea, one that is deeply ingrained in at least the Anglo-American system of jurisprudence, is that the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to make repeated attempts to convict an individual for an alleged offense, thereby subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity...." *Green v. United States*, 355 U.S. 184, 187, 78 S.Ct. 221, 223, 2 L.Ed.2d 199 (1957).

Multiple prosecutions also give the State an opportunity to rehearse its presentation of proof, thus increasing the risk of an erroneous conviction for one or more of the offenses charged. See, e.g., Tibbs v. Florida, 457 U.S. 31, 41, 102 S.Ct. 2211, 2217, 72 L.Ed.2d 652 (1982) (noting that the Double Jeopardy Clause "prevents the State from honing its trial strategies and perfecting its evidence through successive attempts at conviction"); Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 447, 90 S.Ct. 1189, 1196, 25 L.Ed.2d 469 (1970) (the State conceded that, after the defendant was acquitted in one trial, the prosecutor did, at a subsequent trial, "what every good attorney would do--he refined his presentation in light of the turn of events at the first trial"); Hoag v. New Jersey, 356 U.S. 464, 78 S.Ct. 829, 2 L.Ed.2d 913 (1958) (after an alleged robber was acquitted, the State altered its presentation of proof in a subsequent, related trial — calling only the witness who had testified most favorably in the first trial — and obtained a conviction). Even when a State can bring multiple charges against an individual under Blockburger, a tremendous additional burden is placed on that defendant if he must face each of the charges in a separate proceeding.

Because of these independent concerns, we have not relied exclusively on the *Blockburger* test to vindicate the Double Jeopardy Clause's protection against multiple prosecutions.

Grady v. Corbin, 495 U.S. 517-518, 110 S.Ct. 2091-2092 (footnotes omitted).

*Grady* augmented but did not replace *Blockburger*. Thus, two offenses may be the same under *Blockburger*, yet a successive prosecution for one of them may be prohibited if that offense will be established by conduct constituting all the elements of the already prosecuted offense.<sup>6, 7</sup>

Justice Scalia dissented from the majority's opinion in *Grady*. He criticized the majority's reliance on *Vitale* as support for the "same conduct" test, arguing that *Vitale*'s assertion that the defendant would have a "substantial" double jeopardy claim if the prosecution relied on the defendant's conduct in failing to slow to prove manslaughter was dicta which lacked historical support. *Id.* at 537, 110 S.Ct. at 2101. It could not, therefore, be used to overrule *Blockburger*. The *Blockburger* test, moreover, "best gives effect to the language" of the Double Jeopardy Clause. Justice Scalia maintained that the Clause presupposes that a double jeopardy determination can be made before trial; "[o]therwise, the Clause would have prohibited a second 'conviction' or 'sentence' for the same offense." *Id.* at 529, 110 S.Ct. 2097. The *Grady* test cannot settle double jeopardy claims before trial because it requires consideration of the evidence the prosecution presents at trial. Justice Scalia later wrote the majority opinion in *Dixon*.

Grady, 495 U.S. at 510, 110 S.Ct. at 2087 (J. Brennan).

In *Illinois v. Vitale,* [] we suggested that even if two successive prosecutions were not barred by the *Blockburger* test, the second prosecution would be barred if the prosecution sought to establish an essential element of the second crime by proving the conduct for which the defendant was convicted in the first prosecution. Today we adopt the suggestion set forth in *Vitale*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Grady also produces a bar if the offense being prosecuted will be established by conduct constituting an element, or the elements, of the already prosecuted offense. If, however, there is merely overlap, double jeopardy will not bar the subsequent prosecution. For example, if the same conduct establishes the mental element of the case already prosecuted and the case being prosecuted, but the two offenses have aspects of the actus reus in which they are different, the later prosecution will not be barred.

Responding to Justice Scalia's reproachment that *Blockburger* was the only recognized standard for judging sameness of offenses, Justice Brennan noted that *In re Nielsen* and *Ashe* provided additional double jeopardy protection in successive prosecutions. *Grady*, 495 U.S. at 517, 110 S.Ct. at 2091.

Implicit in Justice Scalia's dissent is the misconception that the notion of sameness was being expanded to include conduct. Although *Ashe* and *Nielsen* grant additional protection, they did not broaden the concept of "same offense," and *Grady* itself no where contains a definition of "same offense." The *Ashe* Court's incorporation of collateral estoppel into a double jeopardy analysis had nothing to do with expanding the definition of sameness, for estoppel applies irrespective of whether the offenses are the same.<sup>8</sup>

Grady did not redefine "same offense." Rather, the Court recognized that successive prosecutions involve double jeopardy interests that are not addressed by the *Blockburger* test. The Court, therefore, added the "same conduct" component to meet the more central protections of the Double Jeopardy Clause.

#### B. United States v. Dixon

Dixon consists of two cases that were consolidated for appeal. Each case arose after an adjudication for contempt and a subsequent prosecution predicated on the same underlying conduct. The Court of Appeals held that under *Grady* all the subsequent criminal charges against the two defendants were barred because the government was relying on the same factual foundation which formed the basis for the contempt findings. *United States v. Dixon*, 598 A.2d 724, 731 (D.C.1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Ashe precludes the relitigation of a factual issue that has been resolved in a prior prosecution. For example, if the defendant in Ashe were facing a subsequent prosecution for kidnaping one of the participants at the card game, the prosecution would be barred because the issue of the defendant's presence at the scene was already decided in the prior prosecution for robbery. The fact that kidnaping and robbery are different offenses has no bearing on whether collateral estoppel applies.

Furthermore, the Court found that its decision was supported by two state supreme court cases which had been handed down after *Grady*. *Id.* In those cases, the courts ruled that when a criminal prosecution seeks to prove conduct for which a defendant has already been tried in a contempt proceeding, the prosecution is barred by the Double Jeopardy Clause.<sup>9</sup>

### 1. The Facts of the Case

#### Dixon

Alvin Dixon was arrested and charged with second degree murder. He was released on a surety bond subject to certain conditions, including the requirement that Dixon refrain from committing "any criminal offense." *Dixon*, 113 S.Ct. at 2853. The United States Attorney filed a Motion To Modify Bond, representing that Dixon had been indicted for possessing cocaine with the intent to distribute it. The Superior Court issued an order, noting that Dixon's indictment reflected an apparent violation of the pretrial release condition, and requiring Dixon to show cause why he should not be held in contempt of court. After a contempt hearing, the court determined that Dixon had violated the conditions of his release and sentenced him to 180 days in prison. *Id.* 

#### **Foster**

Foster's wife, Ana Foster, filed a petition for a civil protection order (CPO)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>See State v. Kipi, 811 P.2d 815, 820 (Haw.1991) cert. denied, 502 U.S. 867, 112 S.Ct. 194, 116 L.Ed.2d 154 (1991) (holding that a defendant who pleaded no contest to a criminal contempt charge for violating a protective order could not be subsequently prosecuted for burglary and terroristic threats "based on the same conduct that lead to his contempt conviction"),; State v. Magazine, 393 S.E.2d 385 (S.C.1990) (holding that according to Grady a defendant who had been held in contempt of court for violating a protective order could not subsequently be tried for criminal assault if the assault charge was based on the same conduct that supported the contempt charge).

directed to her husband. Foster subsequently consented to entry of a CPO directing him not to "molest, assault, or in any manner threaten or physically abuse" his wife. *Id.* at 2854-2855. Ana Foster subsequently filed motions to adjudicate Foster in contempt for sixteen alleged violations of the CPO. The last motion included an allegation that Foster assaulted his wife. *Id*.

The trial court ruled that to prove Foster committed assaults and threats in violation of the CPO, Mrs. Foster's attorney had "to prove as an element, first that there was a Civil Protection Order, and then . . . the assault [or threat] as defined by the criminal code, in fact occurred." *Id.* at 2854. The court found "beyond a reasonable doubt" that Foster assaulted his wife on November 6, 1987 and May 21, 1988, and threatened her on September 17, 1988. Foster was acquitted of all other counts, including alleged threats to his wife. *Id*.

Five months after being found in contempt for violating the CPO, a grand jury indicted Foster on five counts, they were:

- (A) simple assault (count I);
- (B) three separate counts of threatening to injure another (counts II-IV);
- (C) assault with intent to kill (count V). Id.

The conduct which formed the basis for counts I and V was relied upon by the prior trial court to hold Foster in contempt.

#### 2. The Opinion of the Court

The *Dixon* Court was divided on whether *Grady* should be overturned, and was even more fragmented regarding the application of the *Blockburger* test. Five of the justices voted to overturn *Grady* and only Justice Kennedy agreed with Justice Scalia's interpretation of the *Blockburger* test as applied to the facts of the case.

# Justice Scalia's Opinion

Justice Scalia's application of the Blockburger test led to the conclusion that

both the prosecution of Dixon for possession of cocaine with intent to distribute and the prosecution of Foster for simple assault were barred. Since Dixon's release order prohibited him from violating *any* criminal law, the District of Columbia Criminal Code was effectively incorporated into the court order. *Id.* at 2857. Analogizing Dixon's case to *Harris v. Oklahoma*, Justice Scalia theorized that the incorporation of the District of Columbia Criminal Code in the court order rendered the subsequent possession charge a lesser included offense of criminal contempt, thus barring a consecutive prosecution for the drug offense. <sup>10</sup> *Id*.

In Foster's case, Justice Scalia's application of *Blockburger* is less transparent than in the case of Dixon. The opinion states in a perfunctory fashion that the assault charge against Foster "based on the same event that was the subject of his prior contempt conviction. . ." is precluded. *Id.* at 2858 (emphasis added). Although the rationale is not explained, it would appear that assault, as prohibited by the CPO, and the substantive offense of assault have identical elements, except perhaps one. I.e., if knowledge of the CPO is an element of contempt, then assault in violation of the CPO subsumes the offense of assault and thus a prosecution for the latter offense is barred by *Blockburger* (since each offense does not have an element that is not common to the other).<sup>11</sup>

The three separate counts of threatening to injure another (counts II-IV) were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Chief Justice Rehnquist disagreed with Justice Scalia's application of *Blockburger* to the contempt charge and opined that the test should be applied to the "elements of contempt of court in the ordinary sense," and " not . . . the terms of the particular court orders involved." *Dixon*, 113 S.Ct. at 2865. He maintained that "the generic crime of contempt of court has different elements than the substantive criminal charges in this case"; therefore, "they are separate offenses under *Blockburger*." *Id.* In other words, for Justice Rehnquist, contempt of court has only two elements: (i) knowledge of a court order, and (ii) the wilful violation of that order. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Assault has elements x, y, z, and contempt for violating an order prohibiting assault has elements x, y, z, + (knowledge of the order). Hence, whereas contempt has an element that is not common to assault, the statutory offense of assault does not possess an element that is not common to contempt.

not barred despite the fact Foster was acquitted at the contempt hearing of the charge that he had threatened his wife. *Id.* at 2859. Under section 22-2307 D.C. CODE (1992), it is illegal to threaten someone with kidnaping, physical injury, or property damage. Proof of contempt required a showing of a threat and knowledge of the CPO, whereas a violation of section 22-2307 requires proof of a threat to either kidnap, physically injure or to inflict property damage. Justice Scalia reasoned that each offense has an element not common to the other. *Id.* 

What is most perplexing about this logic is that it disregards the principle of collateral estoppel established in *Ashe*. The trial court determined that Foster was not guilty of the alleged threats, yet Justice Scalia would allow the government to indict him for that conduct on the grounds that the threats, as defined by the CPO, are distinct, under *Blockburger*, from the statutory offenses charged. As indicated above, the applicability of collateral estoppel does not depend on a "same elements" analysis. *Supra* at 15. The only explanation that Justice Scalia offers is wholly unsatisfying:

The collateral-estoppel effect attributed to the Double Jeopardy Clause, see Ashe v. Swenson, [] may bar a later prosecution for a separate offense where the Government has lost an earlier prosecution involving the same facts. But this does not establish that the Government "must..bring its prosecutions...together." It is entirely free to bring them separately, and can win convictions in both. Of course the collateral estoppel issue is not raised in this case.

Dixon, 113 S.Ct. at 2860 (citation omitted).

Next, the majority had to decide whether the subsequent prosecution was based on the same conduct and thus precluded under *Grady*. After determining that *Grady* barred reprosecution, Justice Scalia took the opportunity to overturn *Grady*, echoing many of the same arguments that he had voiced in his dissenting opinion. *Dixon*, 113 S.Ct. 2860.

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